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Introduction
Susan T. Stevens

Bir el Knissia is a martyrial basilica complex1 that spanned the mid-6th through the 7th c. It 
was subject to two excavations in the 20th c., the first in 1922-23 directed by the Père Blanc A.-L. 
Delattre,2 the second in 1990-92 by the University of Michigan directed by S. T. Stevens in collabo-
ration with J. H. Humphrey. The latter team published a first volume on the results of the 1990 
season, focusing on the basilica’s latest phases (Report no. 1). The current (final) volume is a com-
prehensive account that presents previously unpublished material from 1991-92, focusing on the 
earliest phases of the basilica before re-assessing, synthesizing and interpreting the evidence gath-
ered from all three seasons. The present chapter intends to aid the reader by reviewing briefly the 
history of excavation of the site, the strategies and results presented in Report no. 1, and the goals 
of this volume.

In late antiquity the basilica complex lay on the SW outskirts of the city. Just northeast of the 
complex, kardo 5 East of the urban grid may have passed through a gate in the Theodosian city 
wall (built c.425) before re-orienting to the rural grid where it passed in front of the complex (fig. 2 
overleaf). Today, the site lies not far from the ancient ports in a roughly pentagonal field north of 
Salambo. Its eastern boundary is the TGM (Tunis–La Goulette–La Marsa train line), while its west-
ern boundary is Avenue Hedi Chaker (formerly Rue Salambo) where the well lay which gave this 
field its name (‘Well of the church’).3 The NW edge of the field is Rue Habib Thameur, the prob-
able descendant of kardo 4 East as it entered the rural grid, while its NE edge is a neighbourhood 
laid out roughly on the ancient urban grid inside the line of the city wall. To the south a residential 
street, roughly parallel to Rue Habib Thameur, follows the ancient rural grid. As of 2023, the field 
lies on the edge of the protected archaeological zone of Carthage and represents one of very few 
remaining open fields (fig. 1). 

1	 The martyrial character of the complex was apparent from the special tombs in the basilica’s apse and 
chancel and a large martyrium at the basilica’s N corner: see below, 354-56. Nonetheless, in all but the 
concluding chapter the martyrium is referred to as the ‘NE annexe’, since this is how it was referred to in 
Report no. 1.

2	 A French Catholic missionary of Africa, founder of the Musée Lavigerie de Saint-Louis de Carthage in 
1875, he excavated at Carthage until his death in 1932 (Ennabli 2020, 26-27; Freed 2012).

3	 Variously spelled Bir el Kenissia, Bir Kenissia, Bir Knissia, Bir el Knissia, Bir el Kenicia or Bir el Kennisi.

Fig 1. View of the “Bir el Knissia 1” field from Rue Habib Thameur, looking southwest toward Salambo, July 2023  
(A. Kalinowski).
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Fig. 2. Plan of “Bir el Knissia 1” field showing location of the 1922-23 and 1990-92 excavations (Report no. 1, 4 
fig. 3; B. Pritzkat/R. H. Barnes). 



Introduction 11

Standing remains of the basilica were reportedly quarried in c.1836 to build the residence of 
Ahmed Bey on the shore of the Punic ports; a column used as a door lintel found in the vicinity 
was inscribed with verse 17 of Psalm 86.4 From at least 1883, A.-L. Delattre knew that a basilica 
was located in the field but nearly 40 years passed before he excavated there (1922-23), publishing 
the results in two very limited reports, together with a postcard plan of the basilica.5 Bir el Knissia 
was the last of the 5 basilica complexes he excavated in the ancient suburbium, following Bir Ftouha 
(1880), Damous el Karita (1886), Mcidfa (1906) and Ste. Monique (1915). 

Another site lay some 125 m to the southwest, in the vicinity of a different but homonymous 
well west of the old Rubatino railway. In 1912, L. Drappier opened a sondage which revealed part 
of a badly-damaged Christian basilica with tombs and 3 funerary mosaics cut into its mosaic floors 
(fig. 3). When excavation was resumed nearby in 1921, a fourth funerary inscription was recovered, 
but no more was learned about the site as a whole.6 Delattre’s Bir el Knissia excavation, designated 
“Bir el Knissia 1” in our Report no. 1, was backfilled and its precise location in the field was lost. 
Drappier’s less fortunate Bir el Knissia, designated “Bir el Knissia 2” in Report no. 1, is now covered 

4	 Ennabli 2020, 289; ICKarth III no. 380.
5	 Delattre 1922; id. 1923. The postcard plan, reproduced below (361 fig. 6), was included on the cover of 

Delattre 1926. On his methods, see Report no. 1, 16; Ennabli 2020, 26-27 and passim.
6	 Ennabli 2020, 289; Cagnat 1913; Poinssot 1921; Duval 1995, 286. 

Fig. 3. Drappier’s drawing of mosaics at “Bir el Knissia 2” (Report no. 1, 5 fig. 5; courtesy of INP and the Musée de 
Carthage).
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by modern suburban development. The bibliography of the two sites was subsequently conflated 
by J. Vaultrin.7 From at least 1929, “Bir el Knissia 1” was tentatively identified (primarily because 
of its proximity to the ports) as the cemetery basilica named for a local saint, St. Agileus, known as 
one of the few Homoousian churches functioning under Vandal rule the early 6th c.8 While “Bir el 
Knissia 1” and “Bir el Knissia 2” were distinct Christian sites, any tentative identification with the 
basilica of St. Agileus could apply equally to either. 

Overall goals of the 1990-92 University of Michigan project 

The goal of this project from the outset was to establish the history of Delattre’s “Bir el Knissia 
1” basilica complex by combining documentary evidence from his 1922-23 excavations with the 
results of the 1990-92 excavations. The greatest challenge was to interpret evidence from a pair of 
excavations employing very different methodologies in a way that would reconstruct accurately 
the history of the basilica complex and its environs. This enterprise would have been impossible 
without access to the unpublished dossier of his 1922-23 excavations, which included Delattre’s 
16-page excavation diary and a field plan by A. Thouverey (frontispiece).

Knowing that “Bir el Knissia 1” was poorly preserved, our strategy was to excavate intensively 
parts of the field which Delattre had not explored, chiefly on the E side of the basilica, and to focus 
on those aspects in which Delattre had no systematic interest: the phasing and archaeological dat-
ing of the complex through coins and pottery, and the systematic collection and study of its disiecta 
membra such as architectural fragments. As a consequence, our area excavation was limited to a 
small section cut across the basilica from just outside its E wall extending through the E aisle and 
nave almost to the W colonnade. We anticipated that this would provide an accurate and in-depth 
(though topographically restricted) view of a large structure. We hoped that our results would be 
sufficiently consistent across the excavated areas inside and outside the basilica and would have 
sufficient points in common with Delattre’s work and documents to provide as complete a view of 
the complex and its history as is possible under rather chequered circumstances.

The 1990-91 excavations proved that few of the basilica’s latest features remained in situ. In 
1992, as the excavation advanced into the basilica’s early phases, it became clear that the disruption 
from tomb-robbing that had begun in the 7th c. left progressively less ancient stratigraphy intact. 
This meant that artefacts, from large architectural fragments to coins, were fragmentary and often 
in poor condition, a challenge that all contributors to Report no. 1 and this volume faced. And yet 
there was surprisingly little modern material below subsoil levels (even in Delattre’s trenches) and 
many finds seem not to have been displaced too far from their original contexts. 

Goals of the 1990 excavation 

The first goal in 1990 was to locate the basilica (there being no standing remains) by the rapid 
excavation of 5 sondages (5 x 5 m) across the E part of the field (see fig. 2).9 From Delattre’s account of 
the poor condition of the site, we calculated that a fairly large sondage would be needed to recover 
a sufficient quantity of information. When sondage 3 revealed a stretch of the E wall of the basilica 
shown on the field plan by Thouverey (see frontispiece, at C10), excavation was discontinued in son- 
dages 5 and 6 (which clearly lay outside the basilica) in order to focus on sondages 2-4, all of which 
appeared to concern the basilica. The second goal in 1990 was to establish the phases of the complex 
by opening an area excavation around sondage 3 (incorporating the contiguous units 1000, 2000, 
5000 and 8000). By season’s end, two more segments of the basilica’s E wall had been located in 
units 1000 and 5000. Indirectly associated with the wall were 8 in-situ pieces of a mosaic floor, while 
more than 300 fragments of it were recovered in destruction débris. The mosaics were lifted and 
their foundations excavated. An in-situ fragment of a tomb mosaic some 40 cm below the surface 

7	 Vaultrin 1932, pl. I. See Report no. 1, 9-10.
8	 Lapeyre 1929, 123 (Vita Fulgentii 26) and 174; Ennabli 1997, 120. On Agileus, see Report no. 1, 13 n.38.
9	 1989 sondage 1 at the S end of the field was intended to locate either the basilica or its cemetery and 

investigate the stratigraphy and chronology in that part of the field; see Report no. 1, 70-71.
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of the E aisle mosaic indicated the presence of an earlier floor, reminiscent of Delattre’s comment 
(Diary p. 5) about a tomb mosaic in the W aisle found “some centimeters” below a mosaic floor. A 
drainage area outside the basilica’s E wall in unit 8000 included traces of numerous grave-shafts. 

Excavation continued in sondage 2 (as unit 9200) where in-situ pieces of two mosaic floors, a 
grape-leaf mosaic and a tangent-octagon mosaic, were discovered, respectively, in rooms 1 and 2 of 
a ‘NE annexe’ (see n.1) located outside the basilica near its façade. The excavation was extended to 
the east (as unit 9700) where a small part of a third room was located that had a grape-leaf mosaic 
matching that in room 1, yielding a building of symmetrical plan. By season’s end, the pieces of the 
tangent-octagon mosaic in room 2 had been lifted and its foundations excavated. Excavation also 
continued in sondage 4 (as unit 4000), a drainage and burial area close to the basilica’s presumed S 
apse. With the exception of a deep modern robber-trench which removed all ancient stratigraphy 
in the western third of the area, unit 4000 offered the most intact stratigraphy in the field. By sea-
son’s end, part of a NE–SW wall had emerged running roughly parallel to the basilica’s S wall but 
differently constructed. Many layers of surfaces had covered and surrounded the wall, but none 
were the floor in use with it. An intact amphora burial underlay the earliest of these surfaces. 

We concluded that an initial report (Report no. 1) was in order. The hitherto-unpublished dos-
siers of both Bir el Knissia 1 and Bir el Knissia 2, with the re-location of the two sites on the map 
of the city, would be of value in particular for the historiography of the city’s Early Christian sites. 
Of equal importance, the 1990 excavation had identified the latest two phases of the Bir el Knissia 
1 complex and produced sufficient material to date them to the late 6th and potentially the mid-
7th c., at a time when reliable archaeological dating was not readily available for any of the city’s 
known Early Christian basilicas. These two priorities governed the structure of Report no. 1. 

Brief recapitulation of Report no. 1

Chapter 1 located Bir el Knissia 1 (and Bir el Knissia 2) on maps of Carthage and explored the 
archaeological history of the site and its environs. Of particular interest was the unpublished (if 
very limited) archive of Bir el Knissia 2. On one side of a single sheet was L. Drappier’s 1 : 1000 
 sketch map locating his 9 x 5 m sondage excavated in September 1912 on the property of M. Sama- 
ma (see below, 286 fig. 20). On the other side were his 1 : 20 scale drawings of floor mosaics cut 
by 3 tomb mosaics, all differently oriented, commemorating individuals with the presumed Van-
dal names of Vilimut, Hostrildus and Tanca (see fig. 3). In May 2021, A. Merlin and L. Poinssot 
resumed excavation in an orchard in the N part of M. Samama’s land, revealing a damaged floor 
mosaic featuring the upper body of a peacock and another circular commemorative mosaic. Poins-
sot added this information, a sketch of the tomb mosaic and bibliographic references in the margins 
of Drappier’s map. Chapter 1 ended with an appraisal of secondary literature on Bir el Knissia 1. 

Chapter 2 included photographs of the original 1 : 100 plan of Bir el Knissia 1 by A. Thouverey, 
Ingénieur-adjoint des Travaux publics, and our tracing of that plan on mylar (see frontispiece). It 
also reproduced and transcribed Delattre’s 16-page excavation diary, which was keyed to the plan 
and provided details that Thouverey could not include. The bulk of the chapter was a preliminary 
analysis of the parts of the basilica shown on Thouverey’s plan, supplemented by information 
from Delattre’s diary. In particular, the large, multi-phase area on the basilica’s W flank (our “W 
annexe”) offered insight into how structures outside the basilica proper might be linked to devel-
opments inside it. The chapter concluded with published notices on the 1922-23 excavations. 

Chapter 3 first outlined the strategy and methods of the 1990 excavation. Crucial to its success 
were 6 points of reference that located our trenches precisely on Thouverey’s plan (Report no. 1, 64, 
fig. 1) and a brief description of the “Basilica wall trench”, a long, narrow and shallow trench along 
the E wall of the basilica that was designed to locate its SE corner, previously excavated by Delat-
tre. The chapter then focused on analyses of sondages 1, 5, and 6. R. H. Barnes’ detailed study of 
the basilica’s E wall yielded crucial information about the field’s natural topography (Report no. 1,  
96 fig. 5).
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The 1990 stratigraphic report focused on the basilica’s latest phases. Each of its 4 chapters was 
concerned with a different area: the E aisle of the basilica (chapt. 4: contiguous units 1000-3000 and 
5000), a symmetrical building adjacent to the NE corner of the basilica (chapt. 5: contiguous units 
9200 and 9700), a drainage and burial area adjacent to the basilica’s apse (chapt. 6: unit 4000), and 
a drainage and burial area outside the basilica’s E wall (chapt. 7: unit 8000). Each chapter included 
a discussion of the stratigraphy, followed by preliminary analyses of mosaics (M. A. Alexander), 
pottery (J. Freed, A. Kalinowski, J. J. Rossiter), and coins (P. Visonà) for dating the basilica’s phases. 
The not-yet-fully-excavated features representing the earlier phases of each area were universally 
and very generally dated to the late-5th to early-6th c. 

The most substantive contribution was the (surprisingly) late date and extent of the last two 
phases of construction of the basilica complex (phases 3 and 4 in this volume; they will also be 
treated briefly in the next chapter). In Report no. 1, the tangent-circle mosaic in the basilica’s E aisle 
was well represented and dated by coins and pottery to c.570-575 (now phase 3A, c.570+). It was 
characterized by very small tesserae of brightly coloured marble for the pattern and of limestone 
for the dull-white background. Overall, tangent circles formed concave-sided squares containing 
fish and birds; superimposed on this was a composition of opposing acanthus sinusoids linked by 
red rings (fig. 4). Immediately overlying the tangent-circle mosaic was a well-attested, though very 
disturbed, large-tessera mosaic in a geometric pattern (see below, 53 fig. 24) generally dated to the 
late 6th-early 7th c. (now phase 4A, c.650+). 

The latest datable floor was the tangent-octagon mosaic attested in 7 small, in-situ fragments 
in room 2 of the symmetrical building outside the basilica proper (unit 9700) (fig. 5). Based on a 
single coin of Constans II in the mosaic’s cobble foundation, it was tentatively assigned to a 660? 
period A (now phase 4A, c.650+). Although damaged by the insertion of graves and rather care-
lessly repaired, the overall composition was clear: tangent octagons determining 4-pointed stars 
(= Décor no. 183a) were delineated by a single black fillet on a white background; surviving deco-
rative motifs in the octagons included dentilled squares, composite flowers and Solomon’s knots. 
Among the graves cut into this mosaic, 9737 stood out: although its stone marker was lost, its 
reverse had been carved earlier with a Byzantine inscription preserved in negative imprint in the 
plaster that secured the marker of the later burial. The inscription probably refers to a grave near 

Fig. 4. Tangent-circle mosaic of the E aisle (fragment 2027).
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the relics of a saint of the Maiorum which 
may have been translated from Mcidfa 
to Bir el Knissia (fig. 6). The mosaic in 
Room 1 (and 3) of the ‘NE annexe’ fea-
tured a network of dark grey or green 
opposed grape-leaves on a white back-
ground linked by diverging black and 
red stems forming curvilinear swastikas 
and a 3-strand braided border (fig. 7). 
Because this was a popular composition 
in ecclesiastical settings, including in the 
basilica and baptistery at Carthagenna 
(Dermech), the not-yet-fully excavated 
mosaic was judged on stylistic grounds 
to be Justinianic or post-Justinianic 
phase A (now phase 3A, c. 570+). 

The well-preserved sequence of sedi-
ments and surfaces excavated in 1990 in 
unit 4000 were crucial to establishing the 
phasing and chronological framework 

in all excavated units in the field that are presented below. With the benefit of hindsight, we can 
see that the discussion of the earliest phases of the unit in Report no. 1 (not yet fully excavated in 
1990) was tainted by two underlying assumptions which later proved unfounded. First, the earliest 
feature in the unit was not the wall of the presumed apse of the basilica, subsequently removed by 
robbing. The assumption that it was had suggested that the NE–SW wall in unit 4000 (not fully exca-
vated until 1992), approximately parallel to the basilica’s S wall, was part of the basilica complex 
from the outset, but it proved not to be. Second, the apse wall was not constructed in the late-5th 
to early-6th c. but considerably later, in c.545+, a date established by the 1992 excavation inside the 

Fig. 5. Tangent-octagon mosaic (fragment 9207) in room 2 of the ‘NE annexe‘.

Fig. 6. Reversed plaster-imprint of funerary inscription  
(Ennabli cat. no. 48, Report no. 1, 275; M. Fliss/M. Chelli). 
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basilica. The presumption of 
an earlier date for the basilica 
based on the only-generally-
dated earliest phases of unit 
4000 led to an idea that the 
basilica could be Vandalic in 
date, which proved not to be 
the case. 

However, the Justinianic 
and subsequent phases of 
unit 4000 in Report no. 1 and 
their dates coincide fairly well 
with the phase dates for unit 
4000 in the present volume. 
The correlation between the 
phases of unit 4000 is illus-
trated in the Table below, 
which also reflects the fea-
tures not fully excavated in 
1990 (in square brackets) pre-
sumed to belong to an earlier 
phase than they proved to be 
in 1992. 

Unit 8000 (contiguous with 
sondage 3) was a drainage 
and burial area immediately 
outside the basilica’s E wall, 
where later outdoor surfaces 
were quite well preserved, 
probably because they were at 
a lower elevation than inside 
the basilica, as they were also 
in unit 4000. A coin recovered 
from the repair to an outdoor, 
mortar-and-sand surface cut 
by burials provides a terminus post quem of 583 here for phase 3B. A coin in a subsequent clayey 
layer provided a terminus post quem of 601, proof of continued burial activity in unit 8000 into the 
7th c.

CORRELATION OF PHASES AND DATES BETWEEN REPORT NO. 1 AND THIS VOLUME

Unit 4000 in Report no. 1 Unit 4000 in this volume
Features Phase Date Features Phase Date

[Apse wall built] Late 5th-
early 6th c.

Room adjacent to basilica’s 
apse; drainpipe;  [midden]

Late 5th-
early 6th c.

Building preceding 
basilica construction phase 1A c.525+

Room out of use; burial; 
[drainage channel] 

Early
Justinianic A 540+ Building out of use; 

burial; midden Phase 1B c.540+

Apse wall built; drain-
age channel Phase 2A c.545+

Sandy channel from basili-
ca’s S wall Mid-Justinianic B 550+ Sandy channel from 

basilica’s S wall 2B c.555+

Fig. 7. Grape-leaf mosaic (fragments 9218-19) in room 1 of the ‘NE annexe’. 
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Unit 4000 in Report no. 1 Unit 4000 in this volume
Features Phase Date Features Phase Date

Sediments; surfaces Late Justinianic C 560-565+ Sediments; surfaces 2C c.560+

Solid mortar floor 4415 Post-Justinianic A 570-575 Mortary surface 4415 3A c.570+

Burials Post-Justinianic B Late 6th-
early 7th c. Burials 3B-4A c.585+ to 

c.650+
Crushed building débris; 
tomb robbing

Early 7th 
c.?

Crushed building 
débris; tomb-robbing 6A late 7th c. 

or later

Report no. 1 identified burial as the characteristic activity at Bir el Knissia, which led to our identi-
fication of the structure as a cemetery church. Graves were found in, against and near the basilica 
in every area excavated in 1990 except sondage 6. The digging of graves appeared to have begun 
just before or when the basilica was built (the amphora burial in unit 4000) and continued into the 
mid-7th c. or later (the graves in room 2 of the ‘NE annexe’). This included two phases of burial 
attested inside the basilica. An in-situ but not-yet-fully-excavated piece of tomb mosaic (2044; see 
Terry below, 317 fig. 7), at a top elevation c.0.40 m below the tangent-circle mosaic (now phase 
2C), had probably been inserted into an early floor level. Nine late 6th-c. graves (subsequently 
robbed) had been cut from the level of the tangent-circle mosaic in units 1000-2000 and 5000. Grave-
robbing, which began immediately after the basilica was destroyed by fire in the 7th c., destroyed 
or disturbed the vast majority of tombs. Only one intact earlier burial and 5 disturbed late-phase 
burials survived, whereas the (conservative) Minimum Number of Individuals from disarticulated 
human remains recovered from all areas excavated in 1990 attested to a further 50 individuals. 

The 1990 finds were the subject of studies by specialists C. Walth and L. Miller (burials and 
human remains) P. Visonà (coins), the late N. Ferchiou (architectural fragments), L. Ennabli (inscrip- 
tions), J. W. Hayes (glass) and M. L. Allen (terracottas). These were intended to be preliminary 
reports the results of which would be incorporated into the final report.

By the end of 1990, the goals for 1991 and 1992 were clear: to excavate the features of the earli-
est phase of the basilica in the E aisle, namely the column foundations of the E colonnade and the 
first floor, together with any burials subsequently inserted into it; to explore the basilica nave, both 
phases of its floor, and the small foundations in the middle of the nave that are shown on Thou-
verey’s plan; and to establish the physical and chronological connections between the basilica and 
the ‘NE annexe’ through the excavation of unit 9300. 

Description of this volume and its goals

The stratigraphic report is comprehensive in that it assembles the evidence from all units exca-
vated in 1990-92 into phases. For the sake of clarity, this volume retains the nomenclature of Report 
no. 1 (e.g., ‘NE annexe’, E aisle, W colonnade and S wall), although the features inside the basilica 
are described in relation to the basilica’s NW–SE (more accurately NNW–SSE) or NE–SW (ENE–
WSW) axes. The stratigraphic report provides significantly more detail about the earliest phases of 
the site and the new results from the 1991-92 excavations than for the latest phases already laid out 
in Report no. 1. Nevertheless, we were able to clarify, correct, reconsider and improve on aspects of 
Report no. 1; in particular, we provide a more in-depth analysis of the 1990 sondage 5 in the light of 
the 1992 results in unit 4000. 

The specialists’ reports are also comprehensive: P. Visonà on coins; A. Kalinowski on pottery; 
J. J. Rossiter on lamps; A. Sterrett-Krause on glass; F. Bessière on architectural fragments; S. Prin-
gle on marble and on ceramic building materials; J. Terry on tomb mosaics; J. Terry and S. Aloui 
on inscriptions; C. Walth, E. Smith, F. Touj and O. Gorgob on burials and human remains; and  
B. Davey and C. Walth on faunal remains. While focused on the 1991-92 assemblages, they clarify 
and incorporate information from the preliminary studies in Report no. 1. It proved essential to inter-
pret these large but fragmentary assemblages to the fullest possible extent. To attempt a partial 
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reconstruction of the basilica’s interior, Bessière, for example, devised a method to study architec-
tural fragments recovered from disturbances. After sorting the 344 diagnostic fragments by type, 
original size and material, he assigned them catalogue numbers. On the basis of these groups, and 
comparable examples at other sites, he was able to suggest, largely independent of the fragments’ 
findspots, where various architectural elements might once have been located. The result of all 
these studies was to bring some texture and colour to a suburban complex that from its founda-
tion in the mid-6th down into the late 7th c. was both an important pilgrimage destination and a 
magnet for burials.

In the conclusion, the results of our 1990-92 and Delattre’s 1922-23 excavations are combined 
for the broadest possible view of the development of the complex, its location and immediate envi-
rons. The overall goal has been as complete a reconstruction of Bir el Knissia’s plan and history as 
the evidence permits, together with an exploration of its place in the suburban and sacred land-
scape of early-6th through 7th-c. Carthage. As intended, Bir el Knissia contributes significantly to 
Carthage’s martyrial legacy and attests to ongoing activity in the city in the 7th c. Despite the great 
damage that the complex has suffered, the design and decoration of Bir el Knissia sheds revealing 
light on the other great cemetery basilicas, the three more famous and venerable, though ill-fated, 
martyrial complexes of Mcidfa, Ste. Monique and Damous el Karita, as well as the pilgrimage 
complex at Bir Ftouha, its contemporary sister with which Bir el Knissia was intimately connected.


